FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/31/2022 3:39 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/1/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101236-5

NO. 83064-3 I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SKYLER WALDAL,

Petitioner,

VS.

KEYSTONE RV COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAW OFFICES OF
EUGENE N. BOLIN, JR., P.S.
Eugene N. Bolin, Jr., WSBA #11450
144 Railroad Avenue, Suite 308
Edmonds, WA 98020
425-582-8165
eugenebolin@gmail.com
Attorney for Petitioner

A. Introduction

The Petitioner, Skyler Waldal, is a resident of Snohomish County. In August of 2016, he purchased a new, Keystone "Fuzion" RV, over 40' long, from a Keystone authorized dealer in Portland, Oregon, Curtis Trailers. The total sale price of the RV was \$75,337 and the RV was warranted against defects "in materials and workmanship" for a period of one year. (CP 1898-1900).

The Petitioner and his father towed the RV back to Snohomish County without incident. However, and unbeknownst to the Waldals, the RV was structurally defective on delivery. Two of the three axles on the RV were installed too close to each other. The result was that the two of the three tires on the RV came into contact with each other on uneven surfaces, causing those two tires to

lock-up. This made the RV unsafe to operate on roadways.

Keystone admits that the RV is defective and that necessary repairs are covered by its one-year limited warranty. Keystone has thus far refused to acknowledge its own expert's testimony (James Keough) that the RV is unsafe to move on roadways.

Keystone warranty service is performed by its authorized dealers. (CP 673-677). A dispute arose after the 'defect was discovered, as to whether the Petitioner would be required to return the RV to Curtis Trailers in Portland, or another authorized Keystone dealer. The Petitioner reasonably believed it was unsafe to tow the RV for any significant distance, given the defect. Keystone's own expert testified that he would not tow the RV because the defect made the RV dangerous to move on roadways. It did not matter; Keystone could not provide an authorized

dealer willing to make the substantial repairs necessary to cure the defect. (CP 1503 and 1504).

Petitioner notified Keystone of the defect soon after buying the RV. In the sixteen (16) months following the purchase of the RV, but before filing the complaint, the Petitioner repeatedly communicated with Keystone and its representatives to obtain the benefit of Keystone's warranty. (CP 664-670). During this entire time, Keystone refused to acknowledge that it was dangerous to tow the RV, or provide any alternative to warranty service by an authorized dealer. Keystone repeatedly claims that it was prevented from providing on-site warranty service, but there is *no evidence* in the record to support this claim. In fact, Keystone's first significant offer to the Petitioner to repair the defect under its warranty, occurred in a letter from Keystone's counsel dated November 21, 2017. (CP 1506) (See discussion infra).

Keystone's warranty process is a labyrinth calculated to make warranty service as complex as possible for the consumer. This is described in the Petitioner's opening brief in the Court of Appeals. (Petitioner's Brief at 15-29). Although consumers are directed to contact Keystone's Call Center about problems with their RV, the Call Center only records calls from consumers and does not initiate warranty or other service for any consumer. In fact, Keystone's speaking agent, Stephen Holmes, testified that Keystone employees are instructed to use "scripts" in conversations with consumers. The purpose is to "deescalate" problems reported to the Call Center by consumers. (CP 297, 303-306). This, and other methods of discouraging consumer warranty claims, were described in the Petitioner's motion for reconsideration of the summary judgment. The Petitioner took the depositions of three Call Center employees, whose testimony was provided in support of the Petitioner's motion. None of this is disclosed to consumers.

Keystone finally authorized an extremely limited repair at an independent repair facility, Truck Trails in Mukilteo, which is qualified to perform RV repairs. Truck Trails is also located very close to the Petitioner's storage site for the RV. Keystone clearly undertook warranty service on the RV at Truck Trails, but it would not authorize a full repair. Truck Trials' owner testified that they had the same problems obtaining authorization for warranty coverage and payment that the Petitioner experienced. (CP 1560-1567; CP 1544-1558). Keystone's own expert testified that the entire suspension of the RV required replacement to make it safe. (CP 1580). Yet Keystone authorized the replacement of a single bolt on the suspension—that's all. (CP 1564 and CP 1503). Clearly, Keystone could have authorized Truck Trails, to replace the suspension, as its own expert recommended. But Keystone refused to do so.

Keystone claimed in its motion for summary judgment that the Petitioner refused to allow Keystone to attempt repairs, and this claim was adopted by the trial court in its order granting summary judgment. (CP171-176; 175 at lines 1-8). In its unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's order granting summary judgment. The Petitioner now seeks review by the Supreme Court.

B. Identity of the Petitioner

The Petitioner seeking review is Skyler Waldal.

C. Court of Appeals Decision Warranting Review

Division I filed its opinion on August 1, 2022. See Appendix A-1 to A-11. The trial court's order granting summary judgment is reproduced at A-12 to A-17. The trial court's order denying the Plaintiff's first and second motion for reconsideration is reproduced at A-18 – A-21.

The trial court's order granting Keystone's motion for clarification is reproduced at A-22 – A-24.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues presented for review are:

- 1. Is it unreasonable for a manufacturer of vehicles to require all warranty service be performed exclusively at its authorized dealerships, when an admitted defect makes it unsafe to move the vehicle to such a dealership? (Yes).
- Must a vehicle manufacturer provide a reasonable option for the warranted repairs of defects by authorized dealers, when a vehicle cannot be moved safely to a dealer as a result of the defect? (Yes).
- 3. Is it unreasonable for a manufacturer deny the warranted repair of a defect which makes a vehicle unsafe to move on roadways, solely because the vehicle could not be safely moved to an authorized dealer? (Yes).

III. APPLICABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW

Questions of law and summary judgment rulings are reviewed *de novo*, taking all the inferences in favor of the nonmoving party. *Schroeder v. Excelsior Mgmt. Grp., LLC*, 177 Wn.2d 94, 104 (2013)(citations omitted). "Summary

judgment is appropriate only if there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Id.*

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts supporting Petitioner's claims in the trial court are set forth in his complaint, dated December 6, 2017. The Petitioner's complaint alleged:

While traveling on uneven surfaces, the tires on two of the three axles on the RV frequently come into contact with each other, immediately locking up two of the three tires on one or both sides of the RV. This causes the RV to skid and go sideways and is especially dangerous in snow and ice.

(CP 132-133, par. 2.9).

The complaint also alleged:

2.11 The Plaintiff contacted Curtis [the selling dealer in Oregon] and Keystone to report these problems and discuss repairs of the defects under the RV's warranties. The Plaintiff was unwilling to return to [Curtis in] Portland, Oregon for the warranty work, given what he knew about the rear wheels locking up. Curtis and Keystone therefore instructed the plaintiff to take the RV to Truck Trails Northwest, LLC, In Lynnwood, WA.

- 2.12 After repeated contacts with various employees at Truck Trails, it became apparent that Truck Trails would be unable to provide the warranty repairs necessary to make the RV safe. The plaintiff believes this is largely a result of Keystone's refusal to provide meaningful service under the RV's warranty.
- 2.13 The plaintiff repeatedly reported and attempted to resolve all of these problems with all of the defendants without success.

(CP 133).

* * *

2.18 In the sixteen (16) months since the plaintiff bought the RV, it remains defective and unsafe to use. The defendants have been aware of the safety defect for almost the entire time, but none of them have been willing to repair the RV under Keystone's warranty.

(CP 134).

* * *

2.20 A Keystone representative finally inspected the plaintiff's RV in September of 2017 and acknowledged that the RV was indeed defective and unsafe to use on roadways. Even then, Keystone failed to repair the RV under its warranty.

(CP 135).

* * *

3.1 ... The plaintiff reserves the right to amend this complaint as necessary to re-allege specific causes of action against the defendants, once discovery has been completed.

(CP 141).

Keystone's answer to the complaint is found at CP 360-370. Although the nine-page answer includes numerous affirmative defenses, there is *no allegation* that Petitioner refused to disclose the location of the RV, or that he otherwise refused to cooperate with Keystone in the warranty process. Nor is there any such evidence in the record of this case which predates the filing of the Petitioner's complaint.

Keystone's express limited warranty provides that Keystone will repair manufacturing defects which are not excluded by coverage. (CP 1898-1900). During the summary judgment proceedings, Keystone admitted that the Petitioner's RV was defective and that the defect was covered by the warranty. (CP 11 at lines 23-25). Keystone

also acknowledged that it may elect to replace the RV, or pay the diminution in value, rather than repair a defective RV. (CP 11, line 26, to CP 12, line 1). Keystone did none of these things between the time that the Petitioner first reported the structural defect in early September of 2016, and the date that its counsel began corresponding with Petitioner's counsel over one year later.

On November 16, 2018, Keystone filed a motion for summary judgment seeking the dismissal of all of the Petitioner's claims against it. The Petitioner filed a response, and then a supplemental response, providing evidence that Keystone had withheld highly material discovery responses. Specifically, the Petitioner provided evidence of some sixty (60) different communications between Keystone, its dealers, a supplier, Curtis Trailers, and the Petitioner, all relating to the warranty claim. There was no mention in any of these communications that the Petitioner refused to cooperate in the warranty process, or

that the Petitioner would not disclose the location of his RV.

The Petitioner urged the trial court to dismiss Keystone's motion and impose sanctions for the resulting prejudice to the Petitioner. The trial court denied the Petitioner's requested relief. (CP 10 at pars. 1 and 2).

The trial court entered its order granting Keystone's motion *in toto*, on November 26, 2018, without a single revision or modification to Keystone's proposed language. (CP 8-13). Keystone's proposed order included sweeping conclusions of fact blaming the Petitioner for Keystone's failure to provide warranty service, with *no citations* to the record. The order was followed by two motions for reconsideration by the Petitioner and a motion for "clarification" by Keystone. The court denied Keystone's motion to dismiss the Petitioner's allegations that Keystone breached its express warranty, but then reversed itself on Keystone's motion for "clarification." (CP 273-275). As a

result, all twelve (12) causes of action alleged by the Plaintiff were dismissed by the trial court.

In affirming the trial court's ruling, the Court of Appeals focused its attention on Keystone's evidence that the Petitioner failed to cooperate in the warranty process, including a letter dated February 8, 2017 from the Petitioner to Keystone. The letter was written more than five months after the Petitioner reported the structural defect to Keystone, without any action by Keystone. In his letter, the Petitioner demanded the replacement of the RV, or a refund. There is no indication in the letter that the Petitioner is refusing to cooperate in the warranty process; only an assertion that he will retain counsel if Keystone continues to ignore the Petitioner's warranty claim.

"Keystone acknowledge[d] that the RV at issue here contains a defect, and that the defect is covered under the warranty." (CP 11 at lines 24-25). (Emphasis added). Nevertheless, on November 26, 2018, the trial court

entered Keystone's proposed Order, granting its motion for summary judgment. (CP 8-13). The trial court did so on the basis of a single *factual* claim by Keystone, which the trial court adopted in its order granting summary judgment:

"Plaintiff has failed to permit Keystone a reasonable opportunity to repair the defect, and the evidence submitted by both parties demonstrates that Plaintiff failed to maintain reasonable contact consistent with Kevstone regarding diagnosing and repairing the RV, including a failure to respond to communications from Keystone between February and July of 2017."

(CP 12 at lines 1-5)(emphasis added).

On March 28, 2019, the trial court entered an order on the Petitioner's motions for reconsideration. (CP 63-66). The court *reversed* its order dismissing Mr. Waldal's cause of action for breach of express warranty (pg. 3, par. 2), but declined to reconsider any other part of its November 26 Order. The court explained its rationale:

In its discussion section [of the November 26 Order], the Court

addressed the fact that the claims were not yet ripe as Keystone agents had not been afforded a reasonable opportunity to repair the RV. . . As it appears that Keystone agrees that the repairs should be completed, but that the RV has not yet been presented to a Keystone authorized dealer for repair, it would not be equitable to dismiss the claim as to the Express Warranty with prejudice."

(CP 64 at lines 17-21)(emphasis added).

From this, it is apparent that the trial court engaged in weighing the facts of the case, which is unquestionably impermissible in summary judgments. See discussion infra.

Keystone then filed a motion for *clarification* of the trial court's March 28 order, which the court granted on April 9, 2019. The trial court granted the motion (CP 67-69), which actually changed the substance of the March 28 order in the following ways:

1. The trial court limited the Petitioner's breach of express warranty claims to *future* claims only. However, Keystone's one-year warranty expired on August 4, 2017—almost two years earlier.

2. The trial court further limited any express warranty claims to those that become *ripe*.

V. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Decision by the Court of Appeals

The Court of Appeals filed its decision on August 1, 2022, and focused on the Plaintiffs' allegations of breach of express warranty, breach of the Auto Dealers Act (RCW 46.70.140), and breach of the Consumer Protection Act (RCW 19.86, et seq.). Op. at 4. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the Petitioner's claims for breach of express warranties on the purported basis that the Petitioner would not reveal the location of the RV for an inspection by Keystone. Op. at 6. However, Keystone's claim that the Petitioner refused to disclose the existence of his RV, or that he otherwise refused to cooperate in the warranty process, is completely lacking evidentiary support. The Petitioner therefore respectfully

requests that this Court reverse this ruling by the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals also affirmed the dismissal of the Petitioner's allegation that Keystone violated the Auto Dealers Act, RCW 46.70.180.1 The Petitioner specifically cited subsection (10) of section .180, which requires manufacturers and dealers to provide warranty service within a reasonable period of time. Keystone violated this provision of the Auto Dealers Act. In fact, the first specific offer to provide warranty service for the Petitioner's RV, was made in a letter from Keystone's counsel dated November 21, 2017. (CP 1506). This was *sixteen months* after the Petitioner first reported the defect to

¹ The Petitioner's assertion of Auto Dealers Act claims is to establish *per se* violations of the CPA under the stale predicate doctrine. *See, Young v. Toyota Motor Sales, USA*, 9 Wn.App 2d 26 at fn. 8; 442 P.3d 5 (2019) (reversed on other grounds). *See also, Bryce v. Lawrence (In re Bryce),* 491 B.R. 157, 184-185 (U.S.B.C. for the WDW 2013.

Keystone. In his November 21 email, Joe Corr stated: "After talking with my client, it is my understanding that Keystone is asking for an opportunity to try and diagnose and correct any issues Mr. Waldal is having with his unit." There was no suggestion that Mr. Waldal had been uncooperative with Keystone, or that he refused to identify the location of the RV.

Petitioner's counsel responded to Mr. Corr's email (CP 1507), raising questions about a proposed repair: would the repairs be warranted? And, if so, for how long? Counsel for Keystone and the Petitioner continued to communicate over the following months, but could not reach agreement about the details of a repair.

The Court of Appeals also affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the Petitioner's claims that Keystone violated the Consumer Protection Act---which was predicated primarily on the *per se* violation of the Auto Dealers Act. See RCW 46.70.310.

B. The Duties of a Warrantor of Products

Washington's Auto Dealers Act regulates various aspects of the sale, warranty and service of vehicles "capable of being moved on a public highway . . . by which any persons or property is or may be transported . . ." RCW 46.70.011(16). This definition includes recreational vehicles. The purpose of the Act is "to promote the public interest and the public welfare, and in the exercise of its police power . . . to regulate and license vehicle manufacturers, distributors, or wholesalers and factory or distributor representatives . . . in order to prevent frauds, impositions, and other abuses upon its citizens and to protect and preserve the investments and properties of the citizens of this state." RCW 46.70.005.

Another section of the Act provides that it is unlawful "[f]or a dealer or manufacturer to fail to comply with the obligations of any written warranty or guarantee given by the dealer or manufacturer requiring the furnishing of

goods and services or repairs within a reasonable period of time, or to fail to furnish to a purchaser or lessee, all parts which attach to the manufactured unit, including but not limited to the undercarriage, and all items specified in the terms of a sales or lease agreement signed by the seller and buyer or lessee." RCW 46.70.180(10)(emphasis added).

Federal law also imposes other obligations on warrantors of products, such as the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act (MMWA), 15 U.S.C.S. §§ 2301 to 2312. In *Wilson v. Semling-Menke Co.,* 277 Neb. 928, 766 N.W.2d 128 (2009), the Supreme Court of Nebraska summarized the purposes of the MMWA:

The MMWA provides a remedy for consumers who have suffered damages from a defective product when that product was covered by a written warranty. The purpose of the MMWA was "(1) to make warranties on consumer products more readily understood and enforceable and (2) to provide the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) with means of better protecting

consumers." Under §2304 of the MMWA, a warrantor must, at the least, remedy a defective product in a reasonable amount of time, and if it cannot be repaired, the consumer may elect either replacement or a refund. If the warrantor fails to repair the product in a reasonable amount of time, then the consumer may recover incidental expenses associated with that failure. And under § 2310 of the MMWA, a consumer may recover damages and attorney fees if he or she prevails in a civil suit.

Id. 277 Neb. at 932.

16 CFR 701.3(a) (promulgated under the MMWA) lists nine specific types of information which a warrantor must provide to consumers. Subsection (5) of that regulation requires a warrantor to provide consumers with:

A step-by-step explanation of the procedure which the consumer should follow in order to obtain performance of any warranty obligation, including the persons or class of persons authorized to perform warranty obligations. This includes the name(s) of the warrantor(s), together with: The mailing address(es) of the warrantor(s), and/or the name or title and the address of any employee or department of the warrantor responsible for the performance of warranty obligations, and/or a telephone number

which consumers may use without charge to obtain information on warranty performance;

CFR 701.3(a)(5). (*Emphasis* added).

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