FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/14/2022 12:20 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 101236-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SKYLER WALDAL,

Petitioner,

v.

KEYSTONE RV COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph P. Corr, WSBA No. 36584 Gretchen J. Hoog, WSBA No. 43248 CORR|DOWNS PLLC 100 W. Harrison St., Suite N440 Seattle, WA 98119 (206) 962-5040 Attorneys for Respondent Keystone RV Company

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

On March 2, 2017, Keystone Retail Advisor Shelley Zartman communicated with Waldal. Waldal stated that he had the Trailer in his possession but was now refusing to take it to an authorized dealership because it was unsafe to move.⁴² That same day, Ms. Zartman spoke with Curtis and entered the following notes regarding the call:

- Aaron at Curtis tried to get [Waldal] in to Tacoma [dealership]; customer stated not safe to travel.
- Customer had not called Aaron in 2 months and then called and stated he was fed up with unit.
- Aaron stated he had not been given the opportunity to assist with issues; dealership and KRV were not aware of the issue.
- ⁴⁰ *Id*.

⁴¹ CP 410-411.

⁴² CP 657.

- Customer stated he was putting dealership on notice and KRV for legal action.
- Customer stated he cannot tow unit; but was able to tow to take to non authorized [sic] facility.
- If not able to tow; Aaron stated the unit could be VIA flatbed.
- If not able to tow, we could flatbed to Tacoma to resolve issue.⁴³

On March 3, 2017, Ms. Martin spoke with an individual named Chuck at a company called Glen's Welding (not a Keystone authorized dealer or repair facility) after Keystone learned that Glen's Welding had done some work on the Trailer.⁴⁴ Chuck stated they replaced broken bolts on the MORryde system and checked the leveling system. He also confirmed that "the unit was obviously movable [since] the consumer took it off the lot."⁴⁵

On March 16, 2017, Keystone received an email from Chris Ingraham at a company called Truck Trails NW (another company that is not a Keystone authorized dealer or repair facility), who suggested Truck Trails NW had also done work on the Trailer and repaired a broken MORryde equalizer "a few months" earlier.⁴⁶ Because neither company was an authorized

⁴³ *Id*.

⁴⁴ CP 658.

⁴⁵ Id.

⁴⁶ CP 1911.

Keystone repair facility, Keystone had no information regarding what service had been performed, if any, and whether they were successful in resolving any issues.

Keystone continued to try and determine whether any issues with his Trailer had been resolved. On March 16, 2017, Keystone again wrote to Waldal, notifying him that Keystone had been unable to determine his course of action with the Trailer or whether the issues had been resolved. Keystone again asked for the current status and location of the Trailer so Keystone could assist.⁴⁷ The record shows a March 20, 2017 email drafted by Waldal stating: "Good afternoon, I just got back into town the location of the RV is in Mukilteo WA."⁴⁸ This email, however, was sent from Skyler Waldal to a separate Skyler Waldal email address—not to Keystone.⁴⁹ It was not until three weeks later, on April 7, 2017, that Waldal responded to Keystone, demanding a replacement trailer or a full refund and fees.⁵⁰ Again, Waldal did not provide the location of the Trailer to Keystone.

After a series of phone calls with Waldal, on April 21, 2017, Retail Advisor, Jasmine Carter, wrote an email listing the information she needed "to move forward," including the

⁴⁷ CP 1913.

⁴⁸ CP 407.

⁴⁹ *Id*.

⁵⁰ CP 405.

physical location of the Trailer and asking whether Waldal had reached out to any Keystone authorized dealers to make a service appointment.⁵¹ On April 27, 2017, Waldal responded, and for the first time provided the physical address where the Trailer was stored.⁵² At the same time, Waldal admitted he had not reached out to any other Keystone authorized dealers—or non-authorized dealers for that matter—for assistance.⁵³

F. <u>Keystone Offers to Transport and Repair the Trailer</u> <u>at No Cost to Plaintiff</u>.

By the summer of 2017, Waldal had engaged an attorney and communications continued between counsel for Waldal and counsel for Keystone. Through counsel, Keystone continued its effort to obtain access to the Trailer so that it could diagnose and repair any warranty issues. Accordingly, Keystone offered to fly its Customer Service Products Manager, Matt Gaines, out from Goshen, Indiana to Washington to personally inspect the Trailer.⁵⁴ The inspection occurred on September 7, 2017.⁵⁵ Notably, this was the first opportunity that Keystone—or one of

- ⁵¹ CP 404.
- ⁵² CP 403.
- ⁵³ Id.
- ⁵⁴ CP 1933-1934.
- ⁵⁵ Id.

its authorized dealers— had to inspect the Trailer and attempt to diagnose the issue.⁵⁶

Mr. Gaines wrote a letter to Waldal on November 16, 2017, in which he requested the opportunity to diagnose and repair any issues with the Trailer pursuant to Keystone's Limited Warranty. Mr. Gaines asked Waldal to contact him directly to schedule a time for Keystone to pick up and transport the Trailer to Pendleton, Oregon for repairs, at Keystone's sole expense.⁵⁷

In the letter, Mr. Gaines also communicated his important observation regarding Waldal's tow vehicle, stating:

[Y]our Ford Super Duty F-350 SRW doesn't have the proper trailer weight rating to handle the Gross Vehicle Weight Rating (GVWR) of your Fuzion. This could be the reason you are experiencing the issues with the suspension. With the size and weight of the Fuzion, you should be using a dual rear wheel as your tow vehicle. If you continue to use a single rear wheel tow vehicle, this may not only be unsafe for towing purposes, but you take the risk of causing further harm or damage to your pickup truck and your Fuzion.⁵⁸

Even though Mr. Gaines believed the suspension issue was the result of Waldal's decision to tow the Trailer with an inadequate

⁵⁶ CP 1934.

⁵⁷ CP 1938. In responses to Keystone's Requests for Admission, Waldal admitted he received the November 16, 2017 letter. CP 1915-1919.

⁵⁸ CP 1938. (Emphasis added).

tow vehicle, Keystone was nonetheless willing to transport the Trailer and conduct repairs.

Mr. Gaines waited for Waldal to contact him to schedule the transport of the Trailer to Pendleton, Oregon.⁵⁹ As Waldal testified in his deposition, he never responded or tried to contact Mr. Gaines, or anyone at Keystone, to arrange for a pickup date.^{60, 61} Instead, Waldal filed this lawsuit *twenty days* after receiving the letter from Mr. Gaines.⁶²

II. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

A. <u>Summary Judgment Standard.</u>

Civil Rule 56(c) provides that summary judgment should be granted when the pleadings and other evidence presented "show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c). An appeals court reviews a trial court's decision on summary judgment *de novo*. *McCaulley v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. of Washington*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 304, 424 P.3d 221, 225 (2018).

- ⁵⁹ CP 1934.
- ⁶⁰ Id.
- ⁶¹ CP 1218-1224.
- ⁶² CP 1016-1030.

B. <u>Waldal Makes Numerous Allegations Against</u> <u>Keystone Without Citing to Admissible Evidence.</u>

CR 56 requires the party opposing summary judgment to submit *admissible* evidence. Waldal instead relies on the selfserving and unsupported allegations in his Complaint—in direct contradiction to CR 56(e)—or levies serious allegations against Keystone without a single supportive citation to the record. Some of the more egregious examples of Waldal's unsupported allegations include Waldal's claims that:

- "[T]he RV was structurally defective on delivery. Two of the three axles on the RV were installed too close to each other."
- "Keystone does not deny that . . . Keystone caused the defect when the RV was manufactured."

Waldal cites to no evidence in the record that the Trailer had any defect on delivery or that the axles were installed too close to each other and, certainly, cites to no evidence in the record that Keystone has admitted this much. To the contrary, the only evidence in the record as to the cause of Waldal's issues comes from Keystone's expert who determined the defect resulted from Waldal's decision to tow the Trailer with a truck with inadequate towing capacity after he took possession of the Trailer. Waldal further claims that:

• "Keystone could have authorized Truck Trails, to replace the suspension, as its own expert recommended. But Keystone refused to do so."

Waldal does not cite to any evidence suggesting (1) Truck Trails sought to replace the suspension, (2) Truck Trails contacted Keystone for authorization to do so, or (3) Keystone refused any such recommendation.

Despite providing this Court with no admissible evidence to support his position, Waldal nonetheless contends that the trial court and Court of Appeals erred in dismissing his claims for breach of express warranty, violation of the ADPA, and violation of the CPA. Waldal also contends he is entitled, in his Petition for Review, to assert a new cause of action for violation of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act ("MMWA"). Keystone addresses each issue in turn.

C. <u>Waldal Fails to Establish Keystone Violated the Terms</u> of the Express Warranty.

It is axiomatic that the terms of the warranty define the scope of the manufacturer's obligations on a claim for breach of express warranty. *E.g., Cipollone v. Liggett Grp., Inc.*, 505 U.S. 504, 525 (1992). The only express warranty at issue here is Keystone's Limited Warranty which provides that, under certain specified circumstances, when a defect in materials or

workmanship is found to exist that is not excluded from coverage, Keystone's sole and exclusive obligation shall be to repair the same, provided the RV is used for its intended purposes of recreational camping.⁶³

The Limited Warranty also provides a limited back-up remedy that "in the event the RV cannot be repaired, *after receiving a reasonable opportunity to repair*, Keystone may, at its option, either (i) pay you the diminution in value damages, or (ii) provide a similar replacement recreational vehicle, less a reasonable allowance for the owner's use of the original RV."⁶⁴ This repair-or-replace remedy is the sole remedy available under the Limited Warranty.

Here, there is no genuine issue of material fact as to whether Keystone breached its Limited Warranty when: (1) it was not provided an opportunity to repair the Trailer given Waldal's failure to take it to an authorized dealer; and (2) when its offer to transport and repair the Trailer at its own expense was ignored.

(a) Keystone Was Never Given an Opportunity to Repair the Trailer.

Waldal fails to present evidence that Keystone ever *refused* to repair the Trailer or provide warranty coverage.

⁶³ CP 1898.

⁶⁴ CP 1898-1899.

Indeed, the record establishes the opposite is true. Waldal admits he did not allow Keystone or one of its authorized dealers to attempt any repairs. The record in this regard is clear. When Waldal first called Keystone regarding the alleged defect, Keystone provided him the contact information and locations for authorized dealers in his area.⁶⁵ When he called back again three months later, after not taking the Trailer into an authorized dealer, Keystone again provided the location of authorized dealers in his area, one of which was only 4.5 miles from him.⁶⁶ When this authorized dealer, according to Waldal, "refused" to help him, he did not contact any other authorized dealers, and instead continued to contact Keystone's customer support line demanding a refund and threatening legal action.⁶⁷

(b) Keystone Offered to Transport the Trailer and Provide Warranty Service.

Waldal attempts to excuse his failure to take the Trailer to an authorized dealer by claiming it was unsafe to tow—despite evidence in the record that he did tow the Trailer without incident to Greg's Welding—and alleging the authorized Keystone dealers he contacted "refused" to help him. These allegations, however, are rendered moot by Keystone's November 16, 2017

⁶⁵ CP 655.

⁶⁶ Id.

⁶⁷ CP 403.

offer to tow the Trailer at its expense to its manufacturing plant in Pendleton, Oregon for repairs. Waldal ignored this offer.

D. <u>Waldal Fails to Adequately Plead Violation of the</u> <u>ADPA.</u>

Waldal assigns error to the dismissal of his claim for violation of the ADPA. Waldal contends he presented sufficient evidence to establish Keystone violated RCW 46.70.180. The basis for the Court of Appeals' decision to dismiss Waldal's ADPA claim, however, was Waldal's failure to meet the notice pleading standards of CR 8. In his Complaint, Waldal's sole references to the ADPA were in his caption and in his prayer for relief. He did not include the ADPA as a separate claim or identify with any specificity what provision(s) of the ADPA allegedly Keystone violated. Waldal does not address this issue in his Petition and makes no effort to explain why the Court of Appeals erred in concluding he did not meet the notice pleading standard of CR 8. In other words, even if Waldal presented sufficient evidence to establish his ADPA claim, which he did not, the claim was never sufficiently pled in the first place.

E. <u>Waldal's Claim for Violation of the CPA Fails For</u> Lack of Evidence.

Because Waldal has failed to plead a claim for violation of the ADPA, Waldal cannot use the ADPA to establish a *per se* violation of the CPA. Nor can Waldal establish a direct violation of the CPA. While Waldal does not address this direct claim in his Petition, Keystone nonetheless addresses Waldal's contention that Keystone violated the CPA.

To recover for violation of the CPA, a plaintiff must establish that: (1) the defendant has engaged in an unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) in trade or commerce; (3) that impacts the public interest; (4) the plaintiff has suffered injury in her or his business or property; and (5) a causal link exists between the unfair or deceptive act and the injury suffered. Failure to establish *any* element of a CPA claim is fatal. *Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co.,* 105 Wn.2d 778, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986). Waldal is unable to establish at least two of the five elements of the *Hangman Ridge* analysis: that (1) Keystone engaged in an unfair or deceptive act or practice; and (2) that any unfair or deceptive act or practice was the "but for" cause of his alleged injuries.

An unfair or deceptive act is established by showing "either that an act or practice 'has a capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public,' or that 'the alleged act constitutes a per se unfair trade practice.'" *Saunders v. Lloyd's of London*, 113 Wn.2d 330, 344, 779 P.2d 249 (1989).

Waldal makes two allegations of deceptive conduct. The first pertains to Keystone's customer support line and warranty claim process generally. As the Court of Appeals agreed, Keystone's warranty process is "plain" and clearly laid out in Keystone's Owner's Manual. A customer who calls the Customer Service Line is provided the same instructions—to call an authorized dealer to make a service appointment—as are provided in the Owner's Manual. Second, Waldal contends that it is deceptive and unfair for a manufacturer to require a consumer transport a dangerously defective vehicle to an authorized dealer. Waldal fails to address the fact that Keystone did not require Waldal to tow the Trailer to an authorized dealer in order to obtain warranty services. After Waldal claimed he could not tow the Trailer safely—despite evidence in the record that he did—Keystone not only flew a representative to Washington from Indiana to inspect the Trailer, but then also offered to tow the Trailer to Pendleton, Oregon for repairs at Keystone's expense. Waldal simply ignored the offer.

Lastly, Waldal fails to produce any evidence that suggests a causal link between unfair or deceptive acts and the alleged injury. Rather, Waldal's complaint that the Trailer remained defective is a result of his own refusal to provide Keystone the opportunity to make any necessary repairs, not because he was deceived by the warranty process or otherwise impacted by Keystone's actions.

F. <u>Waldal Argues Violation of the MMWA for the First</u> <u>Time in his Petition.</u>

Waldal devotes a significant portion of his Petition to discussing the MMWA, asking the Court to evaluate the "reasonableness" of Keystone's policies and actions. Waldal, however, did not plead the MMWA in his Complaint or mention the MMWA in his appellate brief to the COA. Waldal acknowledges this much, but nonetheless contends, without citation to any authority, that such an omission is "immaterial." Waldal is not entitled to raise a new cause of action for the first time on appeal.⁶⁸ The Court should disregard Waldal's argument pertaining to the MMWA.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Keystone asks this Court to deny Appellant's Petition for Review.

I certify that this document contains 4,998 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

⁶⁸ See CR 8; see also RPC 2.5(a).

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 14th day of October, 2022.

CORR|DOWNS PLLC

By <u>s/Joseph P. Corr</u> Joseph P. Corr, WSBA No. 36584 Gretchen J. Hoog, WSBA No. 43248 100 W. Harrison St., Suite N440 Seattle, WA 98119 Phone: (206) 962-5040 jcorr@corrdowns.com <u>ghoog@corrdowns.com</u> Attorneys for Respondent Keystone RV Company